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The purpose of a history of a department is presumably to record some of the influences which have melded the thoughts, actions and general development in that department over the years.  This is, of course, a difficult task.  In the first place, early records are indeed scant.  Those with personal knowledge of these times are no longer available.  Of later events, recorder’s judgment may be prejudiced.  And, finally, there is too much of detailed recent history to fit into anything less than something too extensive for the present purpose.  All of this means that one is required to do some guessing in the recording of earlier events and much selection and condensation of the later history.  


An attempt will be made to describe the progress of the Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology of the University of Minnesota Medical School under three headings.  First will come the events, to be followed by some details of the influences of a very few selected men.  At the end the activities and contributions of the department over the year will be briefly mentioned.  

Early History


It is probable that from about the 1840’s, preceptorial medical training was offered by individual physicians in the Twin Cities at least.  From 1882 through 1886, the University of Minnesota did not offer instruction in Medicine but did have a “College” whose faculty served only as an examining and presumably certifying body.  A Dr. William H. Leonard of Minneapolis was shown in these University bulletins as Professor of Obstetrics in 1882 and as Professor of Obstetrics and Diseases of Women and Children in 1884, 1885 and 1886.  

In 1883 (The Board of Regents Minutes, January 5, 1883) Dr. William H. Leonard, Dr. Charles N. Hewitt who was for many years Secretary of the State Board of Health and a member of the University Faculty and President William W. Powell were appointed by the Board of Regents to present a plan of organization of a “Department of Medicine” at the University of Minnesota.  This ended in a resolution passed by the Board of Regents authorizing the formation of a “College of a Department of Medicine.”  Dr. W. H. Leonard was a member of the first faculty of Medicine to be organized here.  It is interesting that a Medical School should begin at the instigation of an obstetrician, a public health physician and a University President.


However, things moved slowly.  In 1887 and 1888, the University bulletin listed two staffs in Obstetrics and Gynecology.  One was in a “College of Homeopathic Medicine and Surgery” and listed a Henry C. Leonard, B.S., M.D. as Professor of Obstetrics and Albert E. Highbee, M.D. as Professor Gynecology.    


In the same years, another Faculty of Medicine, presumably eclectic, is listed in the bulletin.  Parks Ritchie, M.D. now appears as Professor of Obstetrics, Alexander J. Stone, M.D., LL.D. as Professor of Diseases of Women and A.B. Cates, M.D. as “Adjunct to the Chair of Obstetrics.”  Of these, more later. 


In 1888, 1889 and 1890, but not in 1891, the bulletin listed an assigned text in Obstetrics by “Leavitt” for the Homeopathic College of Medicine and Surgery.  In 1896, a Henry H. Leavitt, M.A., M.D. of 904 Fourth St. S.E., Minneapolis was listed as Professor of Diseases of Children in the College of Homeopathic Medicine.  In 1902, Frederick Leavitt, M.D. (Frederick Elmer Leavitt) is listed as Clinical Instructor in Obstetrics in the College of Medicine (not the Homeopathic College).  He wrote an Obstetric text which was published in 1919, of which more later.  This was dedicated to his brother, Dr. Sheldon Leavitt.  Who wrote the 1888 text?  No trace of it can be found.  (See 3A).  

In 1888, ten of the eleven existing “colleges of Medicine in Minnesota” offered to give up their charters, students and properties when the Legislature agreed to support a Medical School at the University of Minnesota.  There is some question as to what these properties consisted of.  No trace of them can be found which is perhaps not unexpected.  Dr. Perry H. Millard was appointed Dean.  Local Minneapolis and St. Paul Hospitals were used for teaching and an outpatient department was set up at the nearby Seven Corners of Minneapolis.  


In 1891, the Legislature appropriated $80,000, which was a lot of money then, for a University Hospital in the University of Minnesota campus.  This was, however, insufficient for the purpose.  A Dean’s duties were clear in those days.  Dean Millard supplied an additional $85,000 from his personal funds.  In 1893, the Medical School moved to campus.  

More Recent History


The history of the Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology really begins with the academic appearance of Drs. A. Parks Ritchie and Alexander J. Stone.  The 1887 bulletin which may represent the plans for 1888 teaching list Drs. Ritchie, Stone and Cates as shown above.  They made up the staff of the department in the College of Medicine and Surgery as distinct from the College of Homeopathic Medicine and Surgery. 

 The Index Catalogue of the Surgeon General’s Library, second series, volume IX, 1904, p. 346 lists Sheldon Leavitt as the author of the following texts:

1. Homeopathic Therapeutics as applied to Obstetrics, 1881.

2. The Science and Art of Obstetrics. 1883.

This has an introduction by a man named Ludlam who apparently was a senior faculty member of Hahnemann Medical College at this time. 
3. The Science and Art of Obstetrics.  Third edition.  1901.  

These references were discovered by Dr. Irwin H. Kaiser.  The books themselves are not available.  


Dr. A. Parks Ritchie was born in Bainbridge, Indiana in 1845.  He attended Franklin Academy and received the M.D. degree from Ohio Medical College, Cincinnati, Ohio in 1870.  He was Professor of Obstetrics in the “St. Paul Medical College” in 1885, Head of the Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology at the new University of Minnesota “College of Medicine and Surgery” from 1888 to 1913 and Dean of the College during its formative years from 1897 to 1906.  He was also a busy practitioner in St. Paul.  This left precious little time for mischief.  He died suddenly of apoplexy in 1913 at age 68.


Little is recorded about Dr. Alexander J. Stone.  He came from New England to Minnesota in 1869.  He started the Northwest Medical and Surgical Journal in 1870.  He was the guiding genius of the St. Paul Medical College which was organized in 1869 and became the medical department of Hamline University in 1870.  When it was reorganized in 1885 under a new charter, he became its president.  (Executive Committee minutes, The Medical School, July, 1910.)  No information is available as to the source of his LL.D. degree.


These must have been stirring times.  The University of Minnesota published a small book which summarized papers which were presented on December 8, 1909, in a symposium entitled “The Unification of Medical Teaching in the State of Minnesota.  A Historical Evening.”  It quotes Dr. Parks Ritchie, the ex-dean but still head of the department of obstetrics and gynecology as follows:


“Dr. William Davis (a member of the first class I taught in Obs.-Gyn.) is a graduate of Harvard Medical School and at that time was unfamiliar with the crude teaching methods of the “wild and wooly” Northwest.  He told me afterward that my first lecture was the most interesting and entertaining bit of farce comedy he had ever listened to.”


“Because Dr. Stone could talk with equal fluency on Gynecology or Surgery or Obstetrics or Chemistry or Mothers’ Clubs he assumed that anyone else could do the same.  Dr. Charles Wheaton is responsible for the outrageous slander that the less Dr. Stone knew of a subject, the better he could talk about it.” 


Dr. Stone spoke on the same evening to the subject, “The St. Paul Medical College.”  He said:


“The trials and tribulations which we had in those early days, those teaching now, those studying at the present time can hardly appreciate.  As President of the St. Paul Medical School it was my duty, then, not only to teach the subjects assigned to me, Obstetrics and Diseases of Women, but to fill at any hour, in any subject, the part of the teacher who could not be present.  And as a matter of fact, I had to lecture upon every subject save that of Chemistry, of which I knew nothing.”


Dr. Stone was introduced in 1910 by Dr. Richard O. Beard, Professor of Physiology as follows: (Executive Committee Minutes, Medical School, July 1910)


“President of the St. Paul Medical School, Preparatory, pioneer of College education in Minnesota, Alexander J. Stone.  Always the same genial and scholarly gentleman that he is today, will speak to-night.  He lectured them on Diseases of Women as he lectures still but combined with it the subject of Obstetrics.”


Two other men who were to play significant roles in the department appear by the way of back doors so to speak.  They appeared first as associated with other departments.  In 1896, the University Bulletin lists Dr. John Rothrock as Clinical Instructor in Pathology.  This continued to 1903 when his appointment was listed as in both Pathology and Gynecology.  In 1905 he was shown as clinical professor of Diseases of Women, a rapid academic advancement.  


In 1903, he and Dr. Frederick Leavitt were conducting ward rounds for students in several hospitals in St. Paul while Dr. Litzenberg was doing similar service in Minneapolis.  


Dr. John L. Rothrock was born near Mifflintown (I presume in Pennsylvania.)  On July 12, 1863.  He graduated from Gettysburg College of Gettysburg, Pennsylvania in 1885.  In 1934, that school gave him a Sc.D. degree and in 1941 he gave them $50,000.  In 1888, he graduated from the University of Pennsylvania Medical School and after an internship, he began practice in St. Paul in 1890.  In 1893-94, he “Studied in Baltimore, Philadelphia, Leipsic (sic), Berlin, Vienna and Prague.”  It is assumed that he spent this time at obstetrics and gynecology.  It is said that he “established a bacteriological laboratory in St. Paul and served as assistant health commissioner from 1896 to 1898.”  The Gettysburg College Bulletin of October, 1941, carries his picture on the front and a detailed description of his career inside.  

In Dr. Rothrock’s file in the department there is an unsigned typed manuscript dated from June 10, 1936 which was the date of a meeting on the occasion of his retirement from the Medical School.  The content would seem to make it clear that it was the work of Dr. Jennings C. Litzenberg and was for presentation on that occasion.  This contains two interesting paragraphs. 

June 10, 1936


“I present to you Dr. John L. Rothrock, Professor of Obstetrics and 

Gynecology.


Were it not for his own modesty, Dr. Rothrock would to-night be retiring as Chief of the Department, instead of as a full Professor.


When the department of Obstetrics and Gynecology was organized at the beginning of the second decade of the century, Dr. Rothrock was asked by the administration of the Medical School to head the division of Gynecology in the new department.  This he declined to do and again, in 1913, at the reorganization of the Medical School, and after the death of the revered Chief of the Department, Dr. Parks Ritchie, Dr. Rothrock was asked to head the department.  Again, he declined.  This was to all of us in the department a source of great regret because we not only admired his great skill and teaching ability, but we all recognized him as the most learned man in our specialty, in this part of the country.  


When the present incumbent was the offered the Chiefship he went to Dr. Rothrock and urged him to reconsider, but he modestly but persistently adhered to his decision.”

In 1933, Dr. Rothrock published on odd book.  (Ten Years of Obstetrics and Gynecology in Private Practice.  John L. Rothrock, A.B., M.D., F.A.C.S., Paul B. Hoeber, Inc., New York, 1933).  In essence it is a reporting of 1750 obstetric and 1345 gynecologic private patients for whom he had cared.  It contains a scattering of his personal medical philosophy and, of course, a demonstration of his own experience. He was seventy years old at this time.  One gets the impression that the book was the product of a personal urge to relive some of his earlier interests and more active days.  


Dr. Rothrock was a quiet unassuming person who remained a bachelor and devoted his whole life and interest to Ob-Gyn.  He was regarded as the elder statesman in his field in St. Paul.  He had been responsible for graduate training of a considerable proportion of the next generation of practitioners there.  There is no evidence that he produced any startlingly new information but he did set a tone of clinical and surgical excellence which was well up to date and of professional responsibility and integrity which were very real contributions.  He died in 1943.  


The second person to apply by the back door was Dr. Jennings C. Litzenberg (1870-1949).  In the bulletin for 1900, he is listed as “Assistant in Ophthalmology and Otology.”  This persisted to 1902 when he was shown as Assistant in Obstetrics (only obstetrics) and was said to be responsible for demonstrating to students “study and participation in two or more deliveries.”  He was also “Associate Physical Director of the University of Minnesota” from 1896-1908 with Dr. L.J. Cooke.  He never lost an abiding interest in athletics and athletes.  He became “Professor and Director” of the department in 1913 and it was at this point that the modern history of the department begins.  This will be discussed in more detail below.  


In 1906, Dr. Fred L. Adair appears as Clinical Assistant in Medicine.  He was also listed as Assistant in Obstetrics.  He had been born in Anamosa, Iowa in 1877, the son of a practicing physician.  He obtained a Bachelor of Science degree at Minnesota, probably in 1898, and a Doctorate of Medicine from Rush Medical College in 1901.  After two years of internship at Michael Reese Hospital in Chicago he undertook general practice Minneapolis.  His main interest appears to have been in Pediatrics.  In 1908-09 he studied with Dr. Robert Meter in the Pathological Institute of the First Woman’s Clinic in Berlin which led to an early publication dealing with the histologic details of the cervical erosion healing.  In 1913, he appears first in the budget of the department of Obstetrics and Gynecology as Assistant Professor at a yearly stipend of $900.  All of the staff were part-time teachers with outside practices.  In 1913, Dr. J.C. Litzenberg was professor and Director at $3000.  An unnamed “stenographer and technician was assigned $600, Dr. A. B. Cates, Associate Professor received $1,000 and Frederic Leavitt, Assistant Professor, 
$750.

Eventually, Dr. Adair became head of the Obstetrics\Gynecological unit of the Minneapolis General Hospital and at the same time carried on a very large private practice.  In 1929, he became full-time chairman of the Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology at the University of Chicago Medical School which he held until retirement in 1942.  He was elected to the presidency of the American Gynecological Society and was instrumental in organizing the American Committee on Maternal Welfare.  Many more details are available in a study by Dr. J. Arthur Meyers in the June 1966 issue of Minnesota Medicine.  


The 1906 bulletin lists the following staff:


Dr. Parks Ritchie, Professor of Obstetrics


Dr. A.B. Cates, ditto


Dr. Frederick Leavitt, Clinical Instructor in Obstetrics

Dr. J.S. Litsenberg (error), ditto


Dr. Jenette McLaren, Assistant in Obstetrics


Dr. F.L. Adair, ditto


Dr. Alex Stone, Professor of Diseases in Women


Dr. Amos W. Abbott, Clinical Professor of Disease of Women


Dr. J.L. Rothrock, ditto


Dr. Arthur E. Benjamin, Clinical Instructor in Gynecology


Dr. H.P. Ritchie, ditto


Dr. H.L. Williams, ditto

It should be noted that at this time, Obstetrics and Gynecology were apparently separately taught.  It has not been possible to discover why a distinction was drawn between Diseases of Women and Gynecology.  


In 1906 there is the first assignment of the textbook, Williams’ Obstetrics.  This preceded the Leavitt text of 1919 by thirteen years.  

In 1916, Drs. R.T. LaVake and L.W. Barry appear on the list of faculty for the first time and the department is simply listed as Obstetrics.  It is not clear whether this was significant or not but it continues through 1926.  The following year the title is shown as Obstetrics and Gynecology.  It was during these years that the names of Jalmar E. Simons who was to succeed Dr. Fred Adair as department head at the Minneapolis General Hospital, and of Roy E. Swanson and Samuel Solhaug who were to give long teaching service at the University Hospitals appear in the budget lists.  Dr. Leonard Lang who was to succeed Dr. Jalmar Simons appears as a Teaching Fellow in 1931.  Dr. John L. McKelvey appears as Professor and Head in 1938 and at this point, a full time department was established.  


A great many men have played a role in the development of the department’s activities since 1938.  This is not as yet history and it is difficult to be objective about people who are still active and whose work is not yet done.  Only a few can be chosen for mention.  Dr. Charles E. McLennan, a Minnesota graduate, was senior Fellow in 1938.  He was quickly moved to full time instructor in 1938 since there was no other full time member of the department.  He left in 1945 to take over his own department and is now department head at Stanford University Medical School in Palo Alto, California.  Dr. A.L. Dippel came from Johns Hopkins in 1940 as full time associate professor.  He was largely responsible for the organization of the Minnesota Maternal Mortality study, of which more later.  He left to take over a department of his own in 1943.  Dr. Curtis Lund came from the University of Wisconsin in 1943, and left in 1947 to take over his own department.  He is now professor and head at the University of Rochester, New York.  Dr. Emil Holmstrom left to act as assistant with Dr. McLennan.  He took over as head at the University of Utah.  Dr. Roy G. Holly, a Minnesota graduate, left in 1954 to take over as head of the department and eventually as assistant to the President at the University of Nebraska.  He is now department head at Jefferson Medical School.  Dr. Irwin Kaiser came from Johns Hopkins and Baltimore in 1951 and left in 1959 to head the department at the University of Utah Medical School where he now is.  These are the men who have made major marks in academic Obstetrics and Gynecology.  A host of others have contributed variously in part-time teaching and in practice.  

Another man will be given more detailed mention below.  Dr. Robert O. Meyer, the senior gynecologic pathologist probably of all time, came to the department in 1939 when he was forced to leave Germany at the age of 75 years.  He died in 1947.  He had a permanent influence in the department and on a considerable group of men of both staff and Fellow level.  

Activities of the Department

These were the men and their times.  What did they do?  Only a few of the contributions they have made can be considered and these must of necessity be painted with broad strokes.  Data for earlier ones are not available and a certain amount of guessing may be justified.  For later ones, it can only be pointed out again that their work is not finished.  And as well, the present author is perhaps justifiably prejudiced and so inaccurate.  

There is little evidence of a department as such until Dr. A. Parks Ritchie took over as department head in either 1887 (when he was listed in the University of Minnesota Bulletin) or 1888 when ten of the eleven existing local Medical Colleges passed their responsibilities together with their charters (and their properties, whatever they were) to the University Regents.  There is little doubt that the teaching of that time left much to be desired.  Men with busy practices gave what time they could and what knowledge they had.  Research other than clinical observation was largely impossible.  What is remarkable is that men like Dr. Ritchie, Dr. Alex, Stone and Dr. Frederick Leavitt were able and willing to do it as well as they did.  In addition, Dr. Ritchie was President of the Ramsey County Medical Society, of the Minnesota State Medical Society and of the Minnesota Academy of Medicine.  To this, he added the post Dean of the College of Medicine during active years of development from 1897 to 1906.  Even granting that the duties of those posts and perhaps the practice of Medicine as well, were not as hectic as they are today, Dr. Ritchie must have been a really extraordinary man.  There was little time for other than superficial clinical observation and it was this sort of reporting of confusing cases which made up the study and meeting interests of that time.

His portrait which is in the department shows a full bearded serious person.  One would scarcely guess that he possessed the humor which is evident in the remarks which have been quoted.  He gave up the Deanship n 1906 but continued on as department head until 1913 when he died suddenly of apoplexy at the age of sixty-eight.  He had made a large, generous and essential contribution to the department and to the Medical School.


There is very little recorded detail beyond that already given about Dr. Frederick Elmer Leavitt, M.D.  He seems to have contributed significant help to Drs. Ritchie and Stone but except for the textbook (The Operations of Obstetrics.  Frederick Elmer Leavitt, M.D., C.V. Mosby Co., 1919) he has left little record.  The “Leavitt” text was assigned in the bulletin for the Homeopathic College of Medicine and Surgery in 1888, 1889 and 1890.  Frederick Leavitt appears in the eclectic College of Medicine and Surgery as Clinical Instructor in Obstetrics in 1902.  The Frederick E. Leavitt book was published in 1919 without reference to a previous edition.  No other Leavitt book can be found.  Where there two books by two Leavitts?

The content of the book is largely derived from German source material and argues for the German principles of the day as might be expected.  It is an interesting book.  It has many of the characteristics of an extension of a teacher’s notes.  There are 248 illustrations, many of which were from originals produced by the author himself.  There is not a single literature reference.  A great deal of work went into this but one wonders what purpose it was designed to serve.  Better and more complete student texts were available at that time.  


The book is dedicated “To my brother Sheldon Leavitt, M.D., whose example as a man and a physician has been my life-long inspiration.” No trace of Sheldon Leavitt has been found.  One can only remark that the local medicine of the day had an odd concentration of Leonards and Leavitts. 


It was about this time (1892-92) that the College of Homeopathic Medicine and Surgery disappears.  


Dr. Jennings C. Litzenberg (1870-1948) had more influence on the development of the department, on the development of men and on the practical application in this area of the Northwest of burgeoning knowledge in the field of Obstetrics and Gynecology than any other single person.  He took over as part-time Professor and departmental Chief of “Obstetrics” following the death of Dr. Ritchie.  It was apparently he who wrote that the chair had first been offered to Dr. John Rothrock and refused.  He had a number of assets.  He was one of the earliest of the American obstetricians and gynecologists to bring back German medical knowledge.  He spent the years 1909 to 1911 studying in Vienna and returned again to Vienna and Berlin following his appointment to the chair in 1913.  He had a striking ability to develop and retain the loyalty of his students.  And he made enduring personal friendships on a national level.  This led to close friendships through the American Gynecological Society and he was elected to the presidency of this society in 1940.  He was one of a small group of Fellows of that Society who were responsible for the establishment of the American Board of Obstetrics and Gynecology, the earliest functioning specialty certifying group.


His study interests were largely in Obstetrics.  His multiple activities limited these.  Perhaps his major interests as manifested by the publications and the masses of pictures and slides which he left were the various aspects of tubal ectopic gestation.  He developed convincing arguments for an etiologic relationship between hypothyroidism and infertility.  But his major contribution was in the part he played in the professional acceptance of the significance of conservatism in Obstetrics.  He never tired of lecturing on one or another aspect of these principles and always to receptive audiences.  

This is not the place to go further into such details.  The interested reader is referred to a published “In Memoriam” by Dr. Claude J. Ehrenberg in Minnesota Medicine of December 1945.  Other source material may be found in “An Appreciation” by perhaps his closest local friend, Dr. Marx White, which was presented before the Minnesota Academy of Medicine and in “Dr. Jennings Crawford Litzenberg, a Profile,” by his colleague Dr. Ray F. Cochrane and published in Minnesota Medicine of July, 1966.  Dr. Litzenberg also wrote a brief autobiography for the 50th reunion of his class of 1894.  His portrait is in the department with that of Dr. Ritchie.  This shows a man who was at peace with himself.  

The third of these men who produced an enduring effect was Dr. Robert Meyer (1864-1947).  He received his doctorate in Medicine in Germany in 1889.  As was the accepted custom at that time, he did general practice in Hannover and later in Berlin for several years.  An interest in adenomyosis in the fetus led to the establishment of a histologic laboratory in his Berlin kitchen, to an invitation to present his findings before the Berlin Gynecological Society, a most unusual opportunity, and an offer to spend the rest of his life at Obstetrical-Gynecological histology.  He eventually took over the direction of the Pathological Institute of the First Woman’s Clinic on Artilleriestrasse in Berlin.  From that post he gave leadership to the whole development of Obstetrics and Gynecology.  One can make good case for the conclusion that his contributions to Obstetrics and Gynecology were perhaps the most significant of his time.  He obtained an unsurpassed critical objectivity, an astonishing industry and financial independence for a large part of his professional life, all of which led to an unusual productivity.  His enormous bibliography attests to this.  He was author of the volume on the uterus of the Henke-Lubarsch Handbook of Pathology which is known to Obstetricians and Gynecologists here and abroad as “the Bible.”  He was long time editor of the Archiv. f. Gynakologie.  

Dr. and Mrs. Meyer had the same single Jewish grandparent.  He refused an offered “Aryonization.”  Presumably because of his international reputation, they were allowed to leave Germany in 1939.  The alternative was spelled out for them in detail.  Entry to the United States was made possible by an academic appointment at the University of Minnesota.  He worked in the department until 1946 and died in 1947 of gastric carcinoma.  

For further details, reference is made to the following publications: Autobiography of Robert Meyer.  A Short Abstract of a Long Life.  H. Shuman, New York, 1949.  Novak, Bail: Life and Works of Robert Meyer.  Am. J. Obstet. Gyn., Vol. 53, No. 1, 1947.  Robert Meyer.  Obituary.  Minutes, University of Minnesota Senate, 1947.  J.L. McKelvey.  


These seven years of Dr. Meyer’s active participation in the department left a permanent mark.  An appreciation of the value of detailed accuracy in the basic histologic control of many of the clinical decisions and the application of a quiet demand for critical objectivity were a part of the man and were passed on to the graduate students and stuff who had the privilege of this contact.  He was in every sense a scholar. 
Associated Hospitals

In the very early history of the department, the bulletins mention teaching at a variety of hospitals in the Twin Cities.  The staffs appear to have been separated into those who practiced in St. Paul and so controlled the material in those hospitals, and a separate group in Minneapolis.  There was an early outpatient department at Seven Corners which persisted until after the University Hospitals began to function.  Eventually the University Hospitals became the central teaching unit.  In addition, the Minneapolis General Hospital and Ancker Hospital in St. Paul were used by most clinical departments.  Part-Time staffs handled each of these and developed their own outpatient services as well.  The influence of each of these waxed and waned largely as a result of the amount of time and interest given by the chief.  Early in his tenure as department head, Dr. Litzenberg added more or less complete medical control of Booth Hospital for Unmarried Mothers in St. Paul and later the similar Harriet Walker Home in Minneapolis.  


After 1939 it became necessary to find additional graduate training areas which could in one way or another satisfy the requirements of the Obs. Gyn. Boards for certification.  Affiliation for certification and some control of teaching were obtained for the two civic hospitals and for Miller Hospital and St. Joseph’s Hospital in St. Paul.  These rotated graduate students in various ways but always with a part of the training being taken at the University Hospitals.  Finally a similar affiliation was arranged with the Fargo Clinic in Fargo, North Dakota.  The local Veterans’ Hospital has no Obstetrics and almost no Gynecology and so could not be used by this department.  


In 1963 Dr. Erick Y. Hakanson became full time Chief of Obstetrics and Gynecology at the St. Paul-Ramsey Hospital (previously the Ancker Hospital) and in 1966, Dr. Donald W. Freeman became full time chief at the Hennepin County General Hospital (previously the Minneapolis General Hospital).  These two hospitals were fully integrated with the University Hospitals both in undergraduate and graduate teaching.  
Activities and Interests

It is trite to say that the activities of any department will involve undergraduate and graduate teaching, research, patient care and public responsibilities.  Nevertheless, these are the duties of a Medical School.  They will vary from department to department as regards to the quantity, the quality and the relative stress given to each.  


Undergraduate teaching requires little comment here.  This has gradually changed from an earlier dependence on lectures with little in the way of responsible clinical experience to present dependence on seminars and association with patients as clerks for practical experience.  The move has been from teaching to learning.  


A great deal of the department’s activities have centered about the graduate student and more and more staff time is given to him.  This is common knowledge and does not need to be considered in detail here.  


The research interests of the department cannot be more than mentioned.  This started with Dr. Litzenberg as mentioned above.  Very little more could be done while the department was staffed by men who had to earn a living by what were often large private practices.  With the establishment of a full time staff, this changed.  Laboratory space became available, first in Millard Hall and then in the University Hospitals.  Recently, efficient research laboratory space beneath the Diehl Library was assigned, built and equipped with funds from the Federal Government, the Medical School, departmental funds obtained from the Harriet Walker Hospital donation and funds which were contributed in memory of Drs. Litzenberg and Dr. Louis L. Freidman.  The laboratory has been named in their honor.


Dr. Charles E. McLennan investigated here and at the University of Virginia among other  things, problems associated with capillary function and blood volume changes and control in pregnant women.  Dr. A.L. Dippel established the parallax method of x-ray pelvimetry with which he had worked elsewhere with Dr. Hodges.  Dr. Roy Holly investigated the anemias in the pregnant woman and rapidly became a major authority in this field.  He discovered and named a new entity, the hypoplastic anemia of pregnancy.  Dr. Emil Holmstrom, here and later in Utah, became interested in ovarian steroid problems and is credited with contributing the progesterone therapy of endometrial hyperplasia.  Dr. Robert Meyer furnished his work on the pelvic nerve tumors and wrote what will remain the classical description of these.  He added a great deal to the efficiency of the early histologic recognition of malignant disease and, at least as importantly, to the definition of lesions which could be confused with cancer.  Dr. Irwin Kaiser developed techniques for the study of the physiology of intrauterine fetal existence.  This involved the development of the application of advanced mathematics and the establishment of micro-techniques for measuring biochemical functions on small quantities of materials.  He established techniques for the use of sheep and the pig for these studies.  His contributions were considerable.  Dr. Curtis J. Lund had worked elsewhere with fat soluble vitamin transfer across the placenta and with fetal oxygen deprivation.  His more recent interests have been in hemoglobin physiology and basic functions of chorionic epithelium.  Dr. Konald Prem played a significant role in the development of the aspects of immunity to the Salk vaccine and later to the development of present day concepts of the live poliomyelitis vaccine therapy in the human.  Dr. J.L. McKelvey’s interests were broadly in the field of recognition and therapy of gynecologic malignant disease, in choriocarinoma diagnosis and handling, in the mechanisms of premature separation of the placenta and in small vessel hypertension in the pregnancy.

Running through all of these years has been the Minnesota Maternal Mortality Study.  This was started in 1941, largely by Dr. A.L. Dippel.  Each maternal death in the state was studied at its source by a staff member.  This continued to the present with the exception only of a few years during World War II.  The men who have played the most important roles in this have been Drs. Donald Freeman and Dr. Alex Barno with contributions more recently from Dr. M.P. Baken, Jr.  Originally, this was largely organized within the department.  In later years, more and more responsibility rested on the investigators.  The final decisions were made by a committee of the Maternal Welfare Committee of the Minnesota State Medical Society.  This has been a most satisfying enterprise for all concerned.  The State maternal mortality rate has dropped in these years from 5 per 1,000 live births per year to a present total rate of 0.4 per 1,000 and an obstetric death rate (excluding non-obstetric caused deaths) of close to 0.2 per 1,000.  What is at least as pleasing is the fact that the preventability rate has dropped from 75% in 1941 to a low of 10% in a recent year.  It is impossible to ascribe this to any single cause but is seems clear that the study itself has played a significant role.  Not only have important lives been saved but a great deal has been learned which has had practical application and which has directed the stress of undergraduate, postgraduate and graduate teaching.  Reference is made to multiple publications in the current literature which describe the organization and findings of the study.  

These have been relatively rapid changes in the interests and direction of the department.  More radical redirection undoubtedly lies ahead, not only for academic activities but for all medical things.  One cannot avoid wondering what the next hundred years will bring.  

